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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Trustees' ‘report
For the year ended 31 August 2023

The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements and auditors’ report of the- Trust

for the year 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023. The annual report serves the purposes of both a Trustees”
report, and a directors’ report under company Iaw

The Trust operates 5 primary academies and 1 seco'ndary academy in the town of Tenterden and surrounding
villages in Kent. Its academies have a combined pupil capacity of 3,028 and had a roll of 1 962 in the school
census of 5 October 2023. 3 of the schools are Church of England Primary Schools. .

Structure, governance and management
a. Constitution

The Trust is a company limited ‘by guarantee and an exempt charity. The Charifable Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the academy trust.

The charitable company's Memorandum of Association is the primary governing document of the Academy.

The trustees act as the governors for the chantabléactwutles of Tenterden Schools Trust and are. also the
directors of the Charitable Company for the purposes of company law. The Charitable Company is known as
Tenterden Schoo|s Trust. A

The charitable company is known .as Tenterden Schools Trust.

Details of the trustees who served throughout the year except as noted are included in the Reference and :
Administrative details on page one. 1.

b. Members' Iiability

Each member of the charitable compahy undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the
event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be
a member.

¢. Trustees’ indemnities
No third peny provisions were made during the year, including the Diocese of Canterbury.
d. Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees 4

The Members shall appoint up to 9 Trustees and the Diocese of Canterbury Academies Trust Limited shall
appoint up to 3 Trustees provided this does not exceed 25% of the total number of Trustees. The Members
have not-appointed any staff Trustees and the CEO has chosen not to be a Trustee. New Trustees are recruited
via advertisements onthe Trust website or through the use of recruitment agencies. In either event, there is an
application, shortlisting, checking and interview process. New Trustee advertisements are as a result of gaps
that appear in the annual skills audit. The results of the skills audit is presented to the Board at least annually.
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company llmlted by guarantee)

. Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2023

Structure, governance and management (continued)

e. Policies adopted for the induction and training of Trustees

New Trustees have an induction process that includes a discussion with a member of the Board and the CEO
and a tour of the estate. The induction programme begins with a series of activities, stored on the Governor Hub
_portal which includes-the Academy Trust Handbook, the NGA Governing a Multi Academy Trust, A Guude to '
Trust accounts, the role of Trustees during an OfSTED inspection and the SIAMS framework. :

The annual skills audit highlights areas of training and we use Governor Hub Knowledge (formerly the Key for
School Governors) for training programmes. :

f. Organisational structure

The Trust has 3’Members. Members appoint (and can remove) the Trustees. The Trustees are responsible for:

strategic leadership of the Trust, defining the Trust vision and fostering the Trust culture.
robust and effective oversight of the operations of the Trust |nc|ud|ng educational performance,
safeguarding, estate safety and effective financial performance

oversught of relationships and engagement with stakeholders

The Trust Board delegates responsubllmes to the foIlowung commlttees
Audit and Risk
Finance and Resources.
Curriculum-Standards
Chairs’ Forum-
Local Governing Boards
The Chief Executive Officer is the Accountlng Officer for. the Trust

‘Orgamsatlonal Structure of SubS|d|ar|es

The Trust operates one subsidiary company which is Home Farm.Children's Nursery Ltd. Company number
05925303 Registered charity number 1092566. The Trust has 100% control as the sole Member and appoints
Trustees to the company. Home Farm Children’s Nursery provides education provision to children of ages 2 -
months to 4 years old. There is a close link between the nursery and the primary schools and many children -
move into Year R in the Trust prlmary schools. )

g. Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel .
The Trust has a Pay Review Committee which is made up of 3 Trustees and the CEO. The comimittee meets in
October/November each year to review the pay decisions made by the Headteacher/Princ¢ipal of each school.

The committee also meets to review the pay decisions made by the CEO of the Headteacher/Principal of each
".school and the Central Services Directors.

Two Trustees and an externally appointed adviser.are involved in the annual appraisal process for the CEO.
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Tenterden Schools Trust .
(A company limited by guarantee).

Trustees’ report (continued)
_For the'year ended 31 August 2023

. Structure, governance and management (contmued)

h. Trade union facnllty time

Relevant union officials

"~ Number of employees who were reIevant union offCIals during the year : ' 1
" Full-time equivalent employee number } . ‘ . -

- Percentage o'f‘time spent on facility time

Percentage of time B SRR I . Number of
o ' employees

0% . ‘ | : , - -
1%-50% o : . A .
51%-99% _ : . .
100% - | - } | .

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time ‘ ' . o £

Total cost of facility time x : i ) L.
Total pay bill I R o
Percentage of total pay bill spent on facility time S %

Paid'trade union activities

Time spent on paid trade union actlvmes asa percentage of total paid facility time ‘ - %
. hours . : :

i Related parties and other connected charities and organisations -
There are no related partylt_ransactions.'
'j. Engagement with employees (including disabled persons)

We will give full and fair consideration and ensure the equal treatment of disabled applicants for any vacancy

" and candidates will be considered solely on their ability to do the job. Wherever possible, after any necessary
rehabilitation training, we will seek to retain or transfer to more suitable work, any otherwise capable employees
who become disabled during their employment with us. We will provide disabled employees the same
opportunities for promotion, career development and training to those afforded to other employees. The Trust
consults with employees and recognised unions to promote harmonious working relationships. Meetings are
held termly with all staff to disseminate information regarding matters affecting them. Consultation always takes
place.in the event of proposed changes to terms and conditions, pay and performance management policies and
employment policies and procedures. .

k. Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Academy

The Trust recognises the importance of fostering good relationships with local businesses, suppliers, those who-

hire our facilities and other stakeholders. The Trust takes its position within the local community seriously,

contnbutmg and participating in local events and supporting local charities, usually promotlng the Mayor of
“Tenterden’s chosen chantles each year.

~
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' Tenterden Schools Trust -
(A company limited by guarantee)

" Trustees' report (continued)
- For the year ended 31 August 2023

Structure, governance and management (contlnued)

" Objectives and activities
a. Objects and aims

The main object of the academy trust is to prowde a broad and balanced cumculum across the fuII ability range
for pupils aged from birth to 19 - :

b. Objectives, strategies and activities
During the 2022/23 year, the 'foIIowing objectives were achieved:

Strategic governance that exemplified ethical standards in-line with the Nolan Principles
Strong school improvement models that led to improved standards

High quality, inclusive education that provrded for all pupils

Strong arid effective financial management leading to value for money

Strong HR practice that led to high quality recruits and excellent tralnlng and development
Increasing in size with the addition of an extra pnmary school

c. Public benefit

" In setting our objectives and planning our activities the Trustees have given careful consideration to the Charity
Commission’s general guidance on public benefit. Our nursery provision has allowed many parents to return to
work' earlier than normal, our schools have provided a wide range of opportunities for young people and our
careers service has broadened pupils’ horizons when considering the world of work. The Trust is non-selective
in a selective area and welcomes pupils from all backgrounds, regardless of ability.in the Tenterden and '
surroundmg area.

Strategic report

Achievements and perforrnance V

0

Strong bgovernance has been achieved by the recruitment of 4 new Trustees who have brought new and varied
skills to the Board. New committee structures that include newly formed Finance and Resources and Curnculum
Standards Committees have allowed more focussed challenge and support.

Strong school lmprovement models have led to |mprovements in'standards. All of the schools within the Trust
are OfSTED and SIAMS category ‘Good’ or better. The secondary school has improved from ‘Requires
Improvement' to ‘Good’ and one primary has improved from SIAMS ‘Good’ to “Excellent’. One nursery has
moved from OfSTED ‘Requires Improvement’ to ‘Good’..

High quality, inclusive education has been achieved with the development of a Trust-wide SEND grohp, :
focussing on the educational needs of some of our most vulnerable pupils. Numbers of pupils with SEND in the
Sixth Form have increased demonstrating the Trust's abmty to provrde a good educational expenence for all

pupils.

Strong and effective financial management has led to a modest surplus and a contribution to Trust reserves.
The Trust has a positive ratio of Assets to liabilities.

Strong HR practices have led to all schools being fully staffed, a relatively low staff turnover of around 5% and
staff engagement surveys showing good staff morale.

The Trust has grown in size with the addition of John Mayne Church-of England Primary school after Governors
' ‘ Page 6 - '



Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee) -

Trustees' report (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2023

‘Strategic report (continued)

Achievements and performance (continued) :~

voted unanimouely to join the Trust.

a. Key performance indicators o

‘Schoo! .b Attendance | Acaaemic performance (Nati'onals: Reading
: 73%, Writing 71%, Maths 73%)

Homewood | 91% !">+4 En+Ma 27Vo, A8 39.31, APS 3.24, P8 -0.17.

T. Juniors 94% | Reading 56%, Writing 65%, Maths 49%

St. Michae.l’sy 95% - Readi'ng 75%, Writing 60%, Mafhs 70%

John Mayne 95% - | Reading 54%, Writing 63%, Maths 45%

Rolvenden '9'5% A Reading 81%, Writing 75%, Maths 69%

b. Going concern

The Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Trustees have based this opinion on an in-year financial ,
surplus, a contribution to unrestricted reserves, favourable OfSTED and SIAMS outcomes, sound pupil numbers, :
low staff turnover, a good local reputation and strong governance.

c. Promoting the success of the company '

Trustees take seriously their role in securing the future for young people in Tenterden and the surrounding
villages. The Trust promotes educational excellence, making sure that its pupils thrive in successful schools and
that they are ready for what the future has in store for them. The Trust recognises its key position within the
community and servicing its needs with excellent Church and Community schools for pupils of all abilities and
backgrounds. The unique nature of the Trust, having schools of all phases, ensures that a continuous all-
through educational experience is on offer, creating smooth transitions between those phases. '

Financial review

_ The maijority of the trust's income is from grant funding from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)
. from recurrent grants restricted to particular purpose. The grants received during the year and assomated
. expenditure are shown in restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Actlvmes

‘The trust also-receives grants for fixed assets from the ESFA. In accordance wnth the Charities SORP, such
grants are shown in restricted income in the Statement of Financial Activities. ~ .

The trust were successful in obtaining Condmon Impfovement grant funding or £4.7m across four sites:
Homewood School and Sixth Form Centre Tenterden Infant School Tenterden CoE Junior School and St
Micheal's CoE Primary School :

~ Amongst the backdrop of hlgh inflation and high energy costs the financial performance remains strong
The principal risks and uncertainties included high inflation, energy costs and late decisions regarding teacher
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Ten,ter_den Schools Trust )
(A company limited by guarantee) ' ) _ i -

‘Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 3 August 2023

Strateglc report (contmued) .-
and associate staff pay increase.
Financial risks were dealt with by swift and prudent reforecastlng

Going forward key challenges include reducing student numbers in the local area, the opening of another nearby.
school, cancellatron of rural bus routes in Kent and the increase in the severlty and number of SEND students.

At the 31st August 2023 the trust added £68k to unrestricted reserves. This is despite the challenges mentioned
above. The current assets to current liabilities ratio is 3.4 at 31st August 2023, this includes unspent Condition -
Imp/rovement Fund grant mcome When removed the current asset to current liabilities ratio is 1.6.

Theré are no funds or subsidiaries that are materially in deficit at the 31st August 2023. .

The release of funds from the Education and Skills Funding Agency approved sale of land at Appledore Road,
- which completed on 7th September 2023, will be reinvested, subject to Board approval, in the following projects:

Improvements to.sixth form accommodation a||ow'ing irtcreased number of students to attend-
Upgrading the current playing fields to allow them to be used all year round.
Investment in a new farm building -

a. Reserves policy

The Trust are building reserves to 5% of GAG income over the next 4 years, we are currently at 2.3%.
Building/Holding reserves for unforeseen crrcumstances and to facility the smooth transition of new schools into
the Trust . :

r

b. Investment polrcy '

“In 2022 23 there were no investments made on the money market. All funds were held in current account
balances but we will consider using the money markets when rates may rise moving forward. Short and longer-
term investments are available via Lloyds Bank PLC. The Trustees are comfortable that glven the cash flow
needs of the trust, best possible use is made of the lnvestments available.

AP4age 8



Tenterden Schools Trust '
.(A company limited by guarantee)

" Trustees' report (continued) ]
For the year ended 31 August 2023

c¢. Principal risks and uncertainties

Control procedures and

Risk Risk Likelihood Impact if Total Response
Reference | of occurs Risk (transfer, target date if specific
Number (and occurring §=°nr°m° (Lx1) | tolerate,
link to (5=highly +l treat or
1=Insignifi
Development | probable& | neignifica terminate)
Plan) ° 1=remote)
Serious Safeguarding -E2 (bP 1.11) 4 5 25 Treat Annual Statement of
concerns ) Assurance
High levels of ES (DP 3.0) 4 4 20 Treat . Schoo! Improvement
persistent absence model/ASC scrutiny/Local
board monitoring
Increased number and E7 (DP 3.0) 5 3 18 Treat Trust SEND strategy/KCC
severity of SEND : ' SEND
offer/training/recruitment
High Energy cbsts F3 (DP 4.0) 3 5 .20 Treat Monthly management
. accounts/Budget
review/Expenditure
reduction
measures/reduced
headcount
High rate of inflation F4 (DP 4.0) 5 4. 24 Treat Monthly management
: ) ’ accounts/Budget
review/Expenditure
reduction
measures/reduced
headcount
Recruitment and H1 3 5 20 Treat Attractive conditions/timely
retention ’ adverts/smooth onboarding
Lack of investment in T1 - 5 4 24 Treat Sinking fund/budgets/top
. CAPEX (hardware slice '
replacement)
Cyber security - T2 3 5 20 Treat Cyber essentials Kite
. mark/back ups to safe
store/virus checking
Fundraising

There has been no fundraising ove

fundraising

Page 9
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Trustees’ report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2023

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

The Academy's greenhouse gas emission and energy cénsumption for the year are:

Petrol,
Diesel,.47,517

Gas {fuel) Oil, 85 940 \
\\

B\ Natural Gas, 1,538,664

» Electricity

11 920

Energy Pie Chart Grey Fleet (50/50
Unleaded/Diesel),

4,294

Electricity, 668,847

= Grey Fleet (50/50 Unleaded/Diesel)

\

= Natural Gas ‘= Gas (fuel) Oil = Diesel . = Petrol
, 2022/23 2021/22

Energy kWh | Percentage | kWh Percentage
Electricity 668,847 28.4% | 1,047,267 39.7%
Natural Gas 1,538,664 65.3%( 1,416,120 53.7%
Gas (fuel) Oil 85,940 3.6% 94,732 3.6%
Diesel 47,517 2.0% 58,935 2.2% |.
Petrol 11,920 0.5% 12,654 0.5%
Grey Fleet (50/50 Unleaded/Diesel) 4,294 0.2% " 5,437 0.2%
TOTAL 2,357,182 100.0% | 2,635,145 100.0%
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Trustees' report (continued) .
For the year ended 31 August 2023

Streamli'hed energy and carbon reporting (cpntinued)

Emissions Pie Chart (Tonnes CO,e)
Grey Fleet (50/50
Unleaded/Diesel}, 0.8

Diesel, 11.4
Gas (fuel) Qil, 22.0

N

Petrol, 53.8

Electricity, 138.5

Natural Gas, 281.5

= Diésel

« Gas (fuel) Oil

" ® Electricity = Natural Gas a Petrol = Grey Fleet {50/50 Unleaded/Diesel)
2022/23 2021/22

- Emissions - “| Tonnes | Percentage Tonnes Percentage
| | co2 co2 -
Electricity 138.5 27.3% 202.5 40.2%
Natural Gas 281.5 - 55.4% 258.5 51.3%
Gas (fuel) Oil 22.0° 4.3% 243 4.8%
' Diesel 11.4 2.2% 14.2 2.8%
Petrol 53.8 10.6% 2.9 0.6%
Grey Fleet (50/50 Unleaded/Diesel) 0.8 0.2% 1.3 0.3%
TOTAL ' 508.0 100.0% 503.7 '100.0%

The following brief comments are made:

a) All energy, whether in gallons of oil, litres of petrol/diesel, cubic metres of natural gas, has been converted

to kWh of energy, using “UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (2023)" for
~ the purposes of this audit and the above pie chart.

b) . Similarly, the above energy sources have been converted to CO2 emissions using “UK Government GHG
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (2023)" for the purposes of this audit and the above pie chart.

c) Due to the introduction of renewable electricity generation (solar and wind) in the UK and the closure of
older coal-fired power stations, emissions factors per KWh of electricity have approximately halved over
the last 10 years.

d) Transport energy is low (2.7% total), but that is normal for organisations that do not have a mobile staff
and are not delivering goods.

' Page 11



Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company Iimited.by guarantee)

Trustees' report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2023

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (continued)

Plans for future periods

“The Trust's-vision for the future is encapsulated in its current vision statement:

An ethically led, high-quality trust, with the aim of improving the life chances of all of its students, regardless of -
ability or background. With local communities at its heart, all of our schools are fully committed to continuous -
improvement. A place where people matter, where you are nurtured and developed to be the best version of
yourself. . _ :

Disclosure of information to auditor

Insofar as the Trustees are aware:

. there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware, and
K that Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to estainSh that the auditor is aware of that information.

The Trustees' report, mcorporatmg a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees as the
company dlrectors on 12 December 2023 and S|gned on its behalf by: k

Mr C Thomas -
Chair of Trustees.
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Governance Statement'

- Scope of responsibility

As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Tenterden Schools Trust has an
effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to
manage rather than eliminate thé risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Governance Handbook and-
competency framework for governance. ’

The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as accounting
officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial
management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding
agreement between Tenterden Schools Trust and.the Secretary of State for Education. The CEQ is also
responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.

" Page 13



Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Governance Statement (continued)

Governance

- The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ report and in the
Statement of trustees' responsibilities. The Board of Trustees has formally met 6 times during the year.

Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows:

Trustee . Meetings attended Out of a possible
M Hill 4 6
G Jones 3 6
K Smith/ 6 6
C Thomas 6 6
Mr N Vincer (Chair) (resugned 19/07/2023) 6 6
J Vos : 1 -1
P Harris 3 3
© M Hazell 3 3
D Irvine 2 2
R Swansbury, appointed by the Dlocese of 5 5

Canterbury Academies Ltd
Ms K Blshop (resigned 21/10/2022)

—_

1

) Followmg a skills audit, four new Trustees have been appointed that complement the current skills set. Key
areas such as Finance, Business and Marketing, IT and the Diocese of Canterbury are now fully represented on
the Board. The Board commissioned an External Review of Governance from the National Governance
Association and has been working through recommendations which have led to improvements in structure and
function. The Board are in receipt of high quality, open and honest information about the schools in the Trust
and are better equipped to ask challenging questions and to provide support.

The Governance Professional manages an up-to-date register of mterests and these are published on the Trust
websne '

Conflicts of Interest -

A standlng agenda item, Trustees are asked to declare any conflicts of interest at each meetlng Conflicts are
recorded and any Trustee with a conflict of interest does not contribute to any discussion on the relevant agenda
item. If felt necessary, the Trustee with the conflict of interest may be asked to Ieave the room for that agenda
item.

Governance reviews

Our last External Réview of Governance took place in October 2022.‘ The impact of actions taken include:

. A clearer understanding of Trustees'.roles and responsibilities

. A balanced approach to challenge and support has been implemented :
« - The new CEO has brought fresh impetus to bring further focus and professuonalnsm to the Trust Board
and Local Governance
. The Board has developed improved practice over the year and adopted the Nolan Principles
e The Board has reorganised its work to further focus on educational standards and finances
. A Governance Professional has been appointed

The next External Review of Governance is planned for September 2024.

The Audit-and Risk Commlttee is also a sub-committee of the main board of Trustees. Its purpose is to mauntam
an oversight of the Tenterden School Trust’s financial, governance,

risk management and internal control systems and to report findings to the Trust Board at the next scheduled
meeting of the Board after Committee Meetings and annually to the Board and the Accountung Officer as a
critical element of the trust's annual reporting requirements.

Attendance during the year at meetings was as follows:
' Page 14



" Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee) . v

Governance Statement {continued)
Governance (continued)

Trustee ' ’ Meetings attended ~ Outof a possible

C Thomas (Committee Chair, re-appointed - 4 : 4
17/05/2023) . _ :

N Vincer (resigned 19/07/2023) 4 4
M Hill : 2 - . 4

K Smith : 2 , 4
‘Review of value for money ‘ '

As accounting officer, Mr S Reeves has responsibility for ensuring that the Academy delivers good value in the
use of public resources. The accounting officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and
wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received.

The accounting officer conS|ders how the trust's use of its resources has prowded good value for money during
each academic year, and reports-to the board of trustees on a regular basis. The academy has delivered value
for money during the year adhering closely to the Financial Regulations Manual in all of its financial transactions
and by comparing its performance with-other academy schools from ESFA benchmarking data to ensure that
expenditure levels are reasonable for an academy of this size.

~ The Financial Regulations Manual is the guide in this area which the Trust, the Trustees and the auditors use.
This is updated each year to fit closely to the Academies Handbook (last updated September 2022). It

establishes the financial roles, powers and responsibilities of the CEQ as Accounting Officer, the Finance

Director (FD) and the Board of Trustees. There are specific guidelines on purchases across the Trust:

1 All orders over £10k must evidence "best value" - whether this be by alternative quotations in full or by a
study of what other organisations have paid or evidence given of reasonable market rates for the
goods/services to be supplied. In practice this is applied, to all purchases over £1k.

2 All purchases over £20k must have evidence of three_alternative quotations.

3 Homewood - the principal teachers and all other b'udget holders must have all purchase orders over £1k
countersigned by the Finance Officers (to 2k max) and Finance Director above that.

4 Homewood - the principal teachers and budget holders will have their budgets agreed by the Finance
Director before the academlc year and these will link with their department plans which are agreed by the
PrlnC|paI/ CEO. -

5 Homewood - the Principal can agree a new commitment up to '£15k.-

6 Primary schools the Executive Head and Head can agree purchase orders up to £5k. The School

Business Manager(Primaries) signs and manages all orders to £2k and the Finance Director signs all
above these unless the Heads have signed those up to £5k.

7 Primary schools - all budgets are agreed with the Executive Head/Head for the year.

All of these above heip to ensure that the schools in the trust achieve value for money in its purchasing and that
the purchases link with whole school plans.
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Governance Statement (continued)

The purpose of the system of internal control

The internal accounting controls are strengthened by the auditors undertaking a full accounting year audit as is
standard practice. In addition, there are three in year checks by a separate firm of auditors - Williams Giles.
These cover the full list of financial areas as before plus several non-fi nancual areas. Areas to be covered and
volume of checks undertaken are detailed in the Financial Regulatlons Manual.

During 2022/23 these audits showed that ﬁnancu_al matters were being conducted well with no areas for
improvement. The Trustees and the Trust schools appreciate the depth and breadth of these reviews. A
summary of the findings in those reviews has been presented to the Trustees and will be sent to the ESFA.The
internal scrutiny checks undertaken by Williams Giles includes safeguarding, risk review, fraud, an overview of
health and safety, pupil numbers, ESFA returns, whistieblowing and governance structures.

In addition, the Educatioh and Skills Funding Agency provide an Accounts Direction document for the year end
audit. An area of continued focus is a review of contracted work undertaken by related parties of the Charity
trustees for the benefit of the school. During the year there were no related party transactions.

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Academy policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Tenterden Schools Trust for the year 1

September 2022 to 31 August 2023 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. o

Capacity to handle risk

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the multi-academy trust is exposed togéether with the

. operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The governing
body is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the academy
trust's significant risks that has been in place for the year ending 31 August 2022 and up to the date of approval
of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the board of trustees.

The risk and control framework

The trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information and .
administrative procedures including the segregatlon of dutles and a system of delegation and accountability. In
particular, it includes: :

. comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports

which are reviewed and agreed by the board of Trustees;

. regular reviews by the Finance and Resources Committee of reports which indicate financial performance
against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;

. setting targets to measure financial and other performance; .

- clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines.

. identification'and management of risks.

The Board of Trustees has decided to employ Williams Giles as internal auditor.

The Williams Giles' role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the
Academy's financial systems. In particular, the checks carried out in the current period included: .
Tested payroll systems

. Tested purchasing systems

. Tested payroll systems
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

" Governance Statement (continued)

The risk and control framework (continued)

. Reviewed the accounting systems
. Review of HR systems

On a quarterly basis, the internal auditor reports to the Board of Trustees through the audit and risk committee
on the operation of the systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees' financial
responsibilities and annually prepares a summary report to the committee outlining the areas reviewed, key
findings, recommendations and conclusions to help the committee consider actions and assess year on year .
progress. :

erllams Giles have delivered their schedule of work as planned and hlghllghted a number- of low IeveI issues
over the year that include:

Summarising actions at the end of board minutes

Clearer communications to staff regarding the outcome of the NJC pay.award
Reviewing the current anti fraud policy

Update the approach to the Risk Register

Each of these issues has been rectified over the year.
Review of effectiveness

As accounting officer, the Mr S Reeves has respon5|b|I|ty for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of mternal
control. During the year in question the revrew has been informed by: ,

the work of Williams Giles, Internal Audrtor, '

. the work of the external auditor;
. the school resource management self-assessment tool;
. the work of the executive managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility for the development

and maintenance of the internal control framework

The accounting officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal
control by the Board of Trustees and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous |mprovement of the
system isin place

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 12 December 2023 and signed on their behalf
by:

é__g N SN

C Thomas S Reeves .
Chair of Trustees i o - Accounting Officer
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Statement of Regularity, Propriety and Compliance

As accounting officer of Tenterden Schools Trust | have considered my responsibility to notify the Academy Trust
board of Trustees and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and
non?compliance with ESFA terms and conditions of all funding, under the funding agreement in place between
the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State. As part of my consideration | have had due regard to the
requirements of the Academies Financial Handbook 2022,

I confirm that | and the Academy Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of
all funds by the Academy, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of fundmg under the
Academy‘s funding agreement and the Academy Trust Handbook 2022.

| conf rm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered
to date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notlf edto the Board of
Trustees and ESFA.

Mr S Reeves '
Accounting Officer
Date: 12 December 2023
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Tenterden Sehools Trust

“ (A company limited by guarantee)

‘Statement of Trustees' responsibilities

For the year ended 31 August 2023

~The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the burposes of company law) are

/

responsible for preparing the Trustees' report and the financial statements in accordance with the Academies
Accounts Direction published by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law,
the Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure, for that perlod In preparing these: financial statements, the Trustees are -
required to: . . =

. select suitable accountmg policies and then apply them consnstently

e observe the methods and prlncvples of the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction
- 2022 to 2023;
. make judgments and accountmg estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. state whether appllcable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any materlal departures’
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
.. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basns unIess itis mapproprlate to presume that the

charitable company will continue in business. .

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. .

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies

" “financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial

management. They are also responsuble for ensuring grants received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the
purposes intended. : .

"The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information

included on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Trustees on 12 December 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr C Thomas
Chair of Trustees
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Tenterden Schools Trust
-(A company limited by guarantee)

Independent auditor's Report on the financial statements to the Members of Tenterden Schools Trust

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tenterden Schools Trust (the ‘academy’) for the year ended 31
August 2023 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash
flows and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is-applicable law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’, the Charities SORP 2019 and the
Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency.

In our opinion the financial statements:

. give a true and fair view of the state of the Academy's affairs as at 31 August 2023 and of its incoming
N resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then ended;
. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted. Accountlng
Practice; and
. have been prepared in accordance with the requurements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP
2019 and the Academles Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the Education and Skills Funding
Agency.

. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationai Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further describéd in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
- of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Academy in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including
the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
. accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit ewdence we have obtained is suffncnent and
"appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. :

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identiﬁed any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Academy's ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responS|b|I|t|es of the Trustees with respect to gomg concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report. :
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Tenterden Schools Trust ’
(A company limited by guarantee)

Independent auditor’'s Report on the financial statements to the Members of Tenterden Schools Trust
(continued) : 4

Other‘ iriformation

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual report other than the financial statements
and our Auditor's report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the
Annual report. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 -

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

o . theinformation given in the Trustees' report including the Strategic report for the financial year for which
.the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

.. the Trustees' report and the Strategic report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements. ' ,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Academy and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' report including the Strategic report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in rel_ation to which the Companies Act 2006
: requnres us to report to you if, in our opinion: .

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
‘ received from branches not visited by us; or
e the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of trustees’ responsibilities, the Trustees (who are also the directors of

- the Academy for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether .
due to fraud or error. ‘ : '

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Academy's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Academy or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. :
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_Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Independent auditor's Report on the financial statements to the Members of . Tenterden Schools Trust
(continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but i$ not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures.
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, mcludlng fraud is
detailed below: :

Capabi/ity of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

- Based on our understanding of the Academy Trust and the sector, and through discussion with the Trustees and
other management (as required by auditing standards), we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance

. with laws and regulations related to child protection and safeguarding, health and safety and employment law.
We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We
also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of the financial
statements such as the Companies Act 2006, Statement of Recommended Practice, Academies Accounts
Direction, Academies Trust Handbook, taxation, and pension legislation. We communicated identified laws
-and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the
audit. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to
posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, management bias in accounting
estimates and judgemental areas of the financial statements such as the valuation of land and buildings and
revenue and non-compliance with financial management and governance requirements which are consistent
with the obligations of public funded bodies. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

. Discussions with management and assessment of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations (including health-and safety and employment law) and fraud, and review of the
reports made by management and internal audit; and ‘

« - Assessment of identified fraud risk factors; and

. Identifying and assessing the de3|gn effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent
and detect fraud; and

. Consideration of income streams, completeness of income and compllance with the obligations of funders
including the ESFA :

. Testing of internal controls procedures relating to expenditure potentially more susceptible to fraud and

other irregularities including the misuse of public funding in areas such as cash, payroll and credit card
expenditure; and

. Review of cash and credit card expenditure to confirm no evidence of personal benefit; and
. Challenging assumptions and Judgements made by management in its S|gn|f|cant accounting estlmates
and.
. Checking and reperforming the reconciliation of key control accounts; and
. Performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships, including related
" party transactions, that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud; and
. Confirmation.of related parties with management, and review of transactions throughout the period to

identify any previously undisclosed transactions with related parties outside the normal course of
business; and

. Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, revuewmg internal audit reports and
reviewing correspondence with relevant tax and regul,atory authorities; and

. Review of internal controls and physical inspection of tangible assets susceptible to fraud or irregularity;
and
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Tenterden Schools Trust

(A company limited by guarantee)

independent auditor's Report on.the fmanclal statements to the Members of Tenterden Schools Trust
(continued) :

Review of significant and-unusual transactions and evaluation of the underlying financial rationale
supporting the transactions; and

Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any manual entrles made at the year end for financial
statement preparation.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including
. those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk

" increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions

reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance.
The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves
intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission of misrepresentation.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material -
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal -control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing-an opinion of the effectiveness
of the Academy's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accountrng
estimates and related disclosures made by the Trustees.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Academy's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in my Auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our

-conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my Auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Academy to cease to continue as a going concern.

' Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the fi nancial statements represent the underlylng transactlons and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

* We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, rncludlng any significant deficiencies in mtemal control that we
identify dunng our audit. :
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Independent auditor's Report on the financial statements to the Members of Tenterden Schools Trust
(continued) . ‘

‘Use of our report

This report is made solely.to the Academy's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Academy's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Academy and its
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

\(&s\éﬂ Q@FWS LY

Kreston Reeves LLP . S ) : , !

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor

Chatham Maritime

_18 December 2023
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

- Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance Report.on Regulanty to Tenterden Schools Trust and
" the Education and Skills Funding Agency

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 9 March 2022 and further to the requirements of
the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to

- 2023, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed
and income received by Tenterden Schools Trust during the year 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 have
been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to.the authorities
which govern them. _
This report is made solely to Tenterden Schools Trust'and ESFA in accordance with the terms of our
engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to Tenterden Schools Trust and ESFA
those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Tenterden Schools Trust and ESFA, for our
work, for this report, or for the conclusion we have formed

Respective responsmllltles of Tenterden Schools Trust's accountmg officer and the reportmg
accountant

The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements. of Tenterden Schools Trust's funding agreement
with the Secretary of State for Education dated 30 November 2016 and the Academy Trust Handbook, extant
from 1 September 2022, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. .

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical
guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the
requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023. We report to you whether anything has come
to our attention in-carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and
income received during the year 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023.have not been applied to purposes
intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them.
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee) : . ‘

Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularlty to Tenterden Schools Trust and
the Education & Skills Funding Agency (contmued) . .

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and
‘Reporting Accountant of Academy Trusts issued by ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as
defned |n our engagement letter. .

The objectlve of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and -
" explanations in order to provude us with sufficient appropnate ewdence to express a negative conclusion on
" regularity.

A limited ass_urance' engagement is more limited in scope than a' reasonable assurance engagement and
consequently does not enable us to-obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that
might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement.' Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evudence relevant to the regularity and proprlety of the
Academy’s income and expenditure.
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. Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Independent Reportmg Accountant's Assurance Report on Regularlty to Tenterden Schools Trust and

the Education & Skills Funding Agency (continued)

The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes:

Conclusuon

In the course of our work nothlng has come to our attention which suggest in aII material respects the
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 has not been
applied to purposes mtended by Parllament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorltles which

- govern them.

\(w_s\m Qovwes 119
Reporting Accountant
Kreston Reeves LLP
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditor. -

Date: '18 December 2023
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_ Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by.guarantee)

Statement of financial activities (incorporating income and expendlture account)

For the year ended 31 August 2023

Restricted

Unrestricted - Restricted fixed asset Total Total
‘funds funds funds funds funds
2023 2023 2023 . 2023 . 2022
_ Note £ £ £ £ ' £
Income from:
Donations and capital ' : S : N
grants ‘ 4 123,626 142,117 - 4,571,166 4,836,909 3,311,182
Other trading activities 692,789 203,466 . 896,255 694,068
Investments . 7 207 ' - - . 207 . 218
Charitable activites . ' : . 17,756,032 - 17,756,032 16,499,877
" Total income 816,622 18,101,615 4,571,166 23,489,403 20,505,345
Expenditure on: . v
Raising funds 5,123 190,405 - 195,528 205,673
Charitable activities 38,919 18,834,899 .3,812,513 22,686,331 21,711,112
Total expenditure 44,042 19,025,304 3,812,513 ~.".2’,881,859 21,916,785
" Net _
mcomel(expendltur ) ) : : .
e) 772,580 (923,689) 758,653 607,544 (1,411,440)
Transfers between , T ‘ -
funds - 19 (704,689) 704,689 - - - -
Net movement in ‘ ‘
funds before other
recognised
galnsl(losses) 67,891 (219,000) - 758,653 607,544 . (1,411,440)
Other recogmsed ‘ |
- gains/(losses):
Actuarlal gains.on
defined benefit " . B
pension schemes 27‘ - 1,451,000 - 1,451,000 9,280,000 .
Net movement in - - - - :
funds 67,891 1,232,000 758,653 . 2,058,544 7,868,560
'Reconciliation of - -
funds:
B - i
Total funds brought . . ) .
forward ‘ 272,455 . (1,232,000) - 38,098,150 37,138,605 . 29,270,045
Net movement in funds ' 67,891 1,232,000 758,653 . 2,058,544 7,868,560
Total funds cal;r_ied - , . — .
forward 340,346 - 38,856,803 39,197,149 37,138,605

The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.

.The notes on pages 32 to 61 form part of these financial statements.
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Tenterden Schools Trust

(A company limited by guarantee)
Registered number: 07736448

Balance sheet
As at 31 August 2023

Fixed assets

Tangiblé assets

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

'

Creditors: amounts falling due within one

year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more

than one year

Net assets excluding pension asset /

liability

Defined benefit pension schem

liability
Total net assets’

Funds of the Academy
Restricted funds:

Fixed asset funds_ :

Pension reserve

Total restricted funds -

Unrestricted income funds

Total funds

Note

15

16

17

18

27

19
19

19
19

2023
£

34,485,618

34,485,618

4,394,149
2,260,489

6,654,638

(1,823,202)

4,831,436

39,317,054

(119,905)

39,197,149

39,197,149

38,856,803

38,856,803 .

340,346

39,197,149

2022
£
34,995,703
. 34,995,703
3,496,795
1,841,048
5,337,843
(1,778,692)
3,559,151
(184,249)
38,370,605
(1,232,000)
37,138,605
38,098,150
(1,232,000)
| 36,866,150.
272,455

37,138,605

The financial statements on pages 28 to 61 were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for issue on 12
December 2023 and are signed on their behalf, by:

Mr C Thomas
Chair of Trustees

Mr S Reeves
Accounting qfﬂcer
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Tenterden Schools Trust

(A company limited by guarantee)
Registered number: 07736448

Balance sheet (continued)
As at 31 August 2023

The notes on pages 32 to 61 form pa‘r,t of these financial statements.
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Tenterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Statement of cash flows o
" For the year ended 31 August 2023

'Césh flows from operating activities

'N;t cash used in operating activities

Cash flows ffom investing activities

Cash flows frbrﬁ finlar'\cing activifies

Chanée in cash and c#sh equivalents in the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash evquivalen_ts at the end of the year

The notes on pages 32 to 61 form 'parf of these financial statements

-
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Note-

21
23

22

24,25

2023

2022

£ £
(3,934,139) -(284&023)
4,425,205 3,'29;0,441
:(71,525) '5,531"
419,441 450,949
1,841,048 1,390,099

2,260,489
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. Tenterden Schoole Trust

(A company limited by guarantee)

. Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 August 2023

1.

General information

- Tenterden Schools Trust 'is a charitable company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity incorporated

in England and Wales. The registered office is Homewood School & Sixth Form Centre, Ashford Road,
Tenterden, TN30 6LT. The principal activity of the Academy Trust is to provrde an education for pupils that
satisfies the requirements of the Education Act-2002. '

Accountmg policies

2.1

2.2

2.3

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applred consrstently,

except where noted), judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.
Basis of preparation of fi’nanci.al statements

The financial statements of the Academy, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been

" prepared under the historic cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard

Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance

.with the Financial Reporting ‘Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)

(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by ESFA, the
Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006.

Consolidated Accounts
Consolidated accounts have not been prepared as the results assets and liabilities of the only

subsidiary. Home Farm Children's Nursery Limited, are not considered material to the group Further
details of the subsidiary are included at note 32.

Going concern

The Trustees assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate i.e. whether. there are any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of
the Academy to continue as a going concern. The Trustees make this assessment in respect of a

‘period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and

have concluded that the Academy has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy’s ability to continue -
as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt the -going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the financial statements.
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Accounting policies’(continued)

24 Income

b AII incoming resources are recognised when the Academy has entltlement to the funds, the receipt is '

probable and the amount can .be measured rellably

Grants .

Grants are included in the Statement of financial activities on a recelvable basis. The balance of
income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant
funds on the Balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-
related conditions. there is not unconditional entittement to the income and its recognition is deferred
and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where
entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued.

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of financial activities in the year for which
it is receivable and any abatement in respect of the year is deducted from income and recognised as
a liability. :

Capital grants are recognised in full when th.ere is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent
amounts of capital grants are reflected in the Balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital

. grants are recognised when there is entrtlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on

whlch they are expended.

Donations

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance related condltlons)
where the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

Other incorne . ‘ _ -
Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the year it is receivable and to the extent
the Academy has provided the goods or services. .

Transfer on conversion

Where assets and liabilities are received by the Academy on conversion to an academy, the
transferred assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance sheet at the point when
the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the Academy. An equal amount of income is recognised
as a transfer on conversion within ‘Income from Donatlons and Capital Grants to the net assets
received.

Transfer of existing academies into the Academy _

Where assets and liabilities are received on the transfer of an existing academy into the Academy,
the transferred assets are measured at fair value and recognised in the Balance sheet at the point'
when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the Academy. An equal amount of income is

". recognised for the transfer of an existing academy into the Academy within 'Income from Donatlons ,
- and Capital Grants' to the net assets acqurred

- 2.5 Expenditure
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Accounting policies (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit’
to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and
the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs
of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including support costs

involved in Undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single activity are allocated directly

to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are -
not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with.
the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation
charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use.

Expenditure on raising funds

This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy to raise funds for its charitable purposes and
includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading.

Charitable activities

These are costs incurred on the Acaderhy's educational operatione, including support costs and costs
relatin‘g to the governance of the Academy apportioned to charitable activities. ’

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.
Interest receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured
reliably- by the Academy; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the
|nst|tut|on with whom the funds are deposited.

Gift Aid

In the case of a Gift Aid payment made within the Group, income is accrued when the payment is.
payable to the Parent Academy under a legal obligation. Measurement is at the fair value receivable,
which will normally be the transactlon value.

Where the right to receive Glft Aid has been established, the amount receivable is recognised as -

investment income.in the Statement of financial activities.
: 4 N

Tangible fixed assets

Land and buildings inherited from the Local Education Authority are stated in the balance sheet at
valuation on the basis of depreciated replacement cost, as the open market value for existing use is

" not readily obtainable. Land and buﬂdmgs acquired since incorporation are included in the balance

sheet at cost.

Leasehold land and buildings are leased from Kent County Council for a period of 125 years. Rentals
payable in respect of this lease are on peppercorn per annum. Under the terms of the leases the risk
and rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred to Tenterden Schools Trust and
accordingly, to reflect its use, the value of the property transferred on conversion is included within
fixed assets with an appropriate credit to voluntary income within the restricted fixed asset fund. The
properties were valued at fair value by professional valuers who specialise in public property property
valuation. The valuation was specifically carried out in accordance W|th the capital accounting
requ1rements of the Chantles SORP (FRS102). :

The buildings at Tenterden Church of England Junior School,St Michael's Church of England Primary
School and John Mayne Church of England School were not transferred to the Trust on conversion.
The buildings are retained by the Canterbury Diocesan Board of Finance and the Trust has a licence
to occupy these buildings with a minimum notice period of two years on-a rolling basis. The Trust
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- Accounting policies (continued)

Tanglble fixed assets (contmued)

does not have control over these premises and as such they are not recogmsed as fixed assets. The
Diocese is committed to providing the land and buildings rent free for a 24 months from the year end.
The trustees do not believe that the likely benefit to the Trust can be reliably -measured and
accordingly, no amounts are recognised within income, expenditure or debtors for notional donations
receivable or notional rental expenses. :

Subsequent expenditure of exnstlng fixed assets:

-Where significant expenditure is ‘incurred on tangible fixed assets it is charged to the income and

expendlture account in the period it is.incurred, unless it meets one of the following criteria in which
case it is capitalised and deprecuated on the relevant basis

Assets costlng £5,000 or more are- capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carned at cost net of '
depreciation and any prowsmn for impairment.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the

" government or from the private sector, they are included in the Balance sheet at cost and depreciated

over their expected useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding
requiring the continued use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset -
fund in the Statement of financial activities and carried forward in the Balance sheet. Depreciation on
the relevant assets is charged directly to the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of financial .
activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been acquured wuth unrestricted funds, deprematlon on
such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Where significant capital expenditure is incurred on land and buildings retained by the Canterbury
Diocesan Board of Finance in which the Trust has a license to occupy, a site.improvement asset is
recognised and is carried at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land and assets under -
construction, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its -
expected useful I|fe as follows:

: Deprematuon is provnded on the following basis:

29

Freehold property | - 2% Straight line
Long-term leasehold property  -. 2% Straight'line
.Furniture and equipment - 20% Straight line
Plant and machinery - '20% Straight line
Computer equipment - 33% Straight line
Motor vehicles o - 20%. Straight line

Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged

-until they are brought into use and reclassified to freehold or leasehold land and buildings.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying

.value of fixed assets and their recoverable -amounts are recognised as lmpalrments Impairment

losses are recognised in the Statement of financial activities. ’

Debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount after any trade discount offered.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.
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2. 10 Cash at bank and in hand

‘Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid i mvestments with a short maturity
of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.

2.11 Liabilities
Liabilities are recognlsed when there is an obllgatlon at the Balance sheet date as a result of a. past
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount.
of the settlement can be estimated réliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy
anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the
goods or services it must provide. : :

2.12 Provisions A

Provisions are recognised when the Academy has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a
past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can
be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obllgatron Where
the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those
amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects. the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges..

2.13 Financial instruments

The Academy only | holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and
financial Ilabllltues of the Academy and their measurement bases are as follows

FmanCIaI assets - trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instrurnents '
~ .measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 16. Prepayments are not financial instruments.

Cash at.bank - is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value.
Financial liabilities - trade creditors, accruals and othe-r creditors are financial instruments, and are
measured at amortised cost as-detailed in notes 17 and 18. Taxation and social security are not
included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to be a
financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obllgatlon to deliver
services rather than cash or another financial mstrument

214 Operating Ieases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the’ Statement of financial activities on a stralght— '
line basis over the lease term.
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215 Pensioh_s

Retirement benefits to employeesvof the Academy are provided.by the Teachers' Pension Scheme
("TPS") and the Local Government Pension Scheme ("LGPS"). These are defined benefit schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of
pensions over employees’ working lives with the Academy in such a way that the pension cost is a
substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are
determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective
unit credit method. . TPS is an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign
between employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated as a defined contribution scheme for
accounting purposes and the contnbutlons recognised in the period to which they relate.

The LGPS is a funded multl-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the

. Academy in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value
and liabilites are measured- on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and
"discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of
equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are.obtained. at least triennially
and are .updated at each Balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating, surplus are the
current service costs” and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and
curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of financial activities and comprises the
interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated
by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to
discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets
and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.

2.16 Agency arrangements
The academy trust acts as an agent dlstnbutlng 16-9 bursary funding from the ESFA. Payments
received from the ESFA .and the subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the
statement of financial activities as the trust does not have control over the charitable application of
the funds. The funds received and paid and any balances held are disclosed in note 31.

2.17 Fund accounting

Unrestricted income-funds represent those resources which may 'be‘used towards meeting any of the
charitable objects of the Academy at the discretion of the Trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes
imposed by the funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.

Restricted geheral funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the
funder/donor and.include grants from the Department for Education Group.

Investment income, gains and losses are allocated to the appropriate fund._

Page 37



Te’nterden Schools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

~

Notes to the financial statements

3.

‘For the year ended 31 August 2023

Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgment

Estimates and judgments are contmually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other

_ factors, including expectatlons of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

cwcumstances
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:

The Academy makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and.
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets-and Ilabllltues within the next financial year are discussed below.

Multi- employer defined benefit pension scheme

The present value of the Local Government Pensnon Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The
assumptions used in determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any
changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 27, will impact the carrying amount of the ‘
pension liability. Furthermore a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial
valuation performed at 31 March 2019 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31
August 2023. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full

_actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability.

Tangible fixed assets

The Academy Trust has recognlsed tangible fixed assets with a carrylng value of £34,995,703 at the
reporting date (see note 15). These assets are stated at their cost less provision for depreciation and -
impairment. The Academy Trust's accounting policy sets out the approach to calculating.depreciation for
immaterial assets acquired. For material assets such as land and buildings the Academy Trust determines
at acquisition reliable estimates for the useful life of the asset, its residual value and decommissioning
costs. These estimates are based upon such factors as the expected use of the acquired asset and-

- market conditions. At subsequent reporting dates the trustees consider whether there are any factors such

as technological advancements or changes in market conditions that indicate a need to reconsider the
estimates used. :

Where there are indicators that the carrying value of tangible assets may be impaired the Academy Trust
undertakes tests to determine the recoverable amount of assets. These tests require estimates of the fair
value of assets less cost to sell and of their value in use. Wherever possible the estimate of the fair value
of assets is based upon observable market prices less incremental. cost for disposing of the asset. The
value in use calculation is based upon a discounted cash flow model, based upon the Academy Trust's
forecasts for the foreseeable future which do not include any restructuring activities that the Academy
Trust is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance.
The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as
well expected future cash flows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. ‘

Critical areas of judgment: '
Lease commitments

The Academy Trust has entered into a range .of lease commitments in.respect of plant and equipment.

~ The classification of these leases as either financial or operating leases requires the trustees to consider

whether the terms and conditions of each lease are such that the Academy Trust has acquired the risks
and rewards associated with the ownership of the underlying assets.

Multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme

Certain employees participate in a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme with other Academy
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Crltlcal accounting estumates and areas of judgment (contlnued)

 Trusts in the reglon. In the judgement of the trustees, the Academy Trust does not have sufficient

information on the plan assets and liabilities to be able to reliably account for its share of the defined
benefit obligation and plan assets. Therefore the scheme is accounted for as a def' ned contribution
scheme.

The plan surplus éé at 31 Augu’si 2023 was £179,000 (2022: deficit £1,232,000). A pension plan asset is

recognised to the extent that the company is able to recover the surplus either through reduced
contributions in the future of through refunds from the plan. In the opinion of the trustees, the academy
trust will not recover the surplus through reduced contributions and they do not anticipate receiving any

‘refunds from the plan and therefore the net surplus recogmsed within the financial statements has been

restncted to £NIL, see note 27 for further details. -

Income from donations and capivtal,lgrants

Restricted .

Unrestricted Restricted fixed asset Total Total
funds - funds funds funds funds
2023 - . 2023 .2023 - 2023 - 2022
£ - £ £ ) £ o £
Donations ' 123;626 142,117 - 265,743 - 211,526
" Capital grants - _ _ - - - 4,571,166 | 4,571,166 3,099,656
123,626 - 142,117 4,571,166 4,836,909 3,311,182

Tetal 2022 . 23,991 187,535 3,099,656 3,311,182
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5. Fun'di'ng for the Academy's charitable activities

. Educational operation§

DfE/ESFA grants
General Annual Grant (GAG)
Other DfE/ESFA grants
" Other DfE/ESFA grants
Pupil Premium grant

Universal Infant Free School Meals (UIFSM)

Other Government grants
Local Authority SEN funding
Other Local Authority grants

Other income from the Academy's educational

operations

Total 2022

6. Income from other trading activities

Trip income
‘Hire of facilities
Catering income
Other income

Total 2022

Total

2022 . -
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Restricted N Total:
“funds funds funds
2023 2023
£ g £
12,778,307 ~ 12,778,307 13,694,297
2,958.497 2,058,497 663,375
791,031 791,031 686,863
87,383 87,383 81,703
16,615,218 16,615,218 . 15,126,238
480,071 480,071 476,763
568,932 568,932 834,030
 1,049003 1,049,003 1,310,793
91,811 91,811 . 62846
17,756,032 17,756,032 16,499,877
17,756,032 17,756,032 16,499,877
. 16,499,877 16,499,877
"Unrestricted . Restricted Total . Total
funds funds funds funds
2023 2023 2023 2022
£ £ £ £
- 203,466 203,466 197,259
101,370 . 101,370 106,737
155,458 . 155458 182,676
435,961 - 435,961 207,396
692780 203,466 896,255 694,068
496,809 197,259 694,068
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" Income from other trading activities (continued)

Investment income

Interest received

" Expenditure

Expenditure on raising
voluntary income: -

Direct' costs
Educational Qperations:

Direct costs

_ Allocated support costs

Total 2022

/"

Unrestricted

- Total

Analysis of expenditure by activities

o

 Educational operations

Total 2022

Total
‘funds funds funds
2023 - 2023 2022
B £
207 207 218
Staff Costs Premises Other Total Total
2023 2023 2023 2023 2022
£ £ £ £ £
- - 195,528 195,528 205,673
12,270,345 - R 1,846",304' 14,116,649 13,223,091
2,140,847 4,813,669 . 1,615,166 8,569,682 8,488,021
14,411,192 4,813,669 = 3,656,998 = 22,881,859 - 21,916,785
14,499,‘659 4,030,354 3,386,‘772' 21,916,785
~ Activities : : _ )
undertaken . Support Total
directly "~ costs funds funds
2023 2023 2023
£ £ £ £
14,1'16,649 - 8,569,682 22,686,331 21,711,112

113,223,091
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9.

Analysis of expenditure by activities (continued)

Ahalysis of direct costs

Staff costs.
Depreciation

" Educational supplies
Technology costs

. Examination fees
Education,al(cqnsultancy

Agency Staff Costs

Total 2022

Analysis of support costs

Pension finance costs
Staff costs
Technology costs
Premises costs

""Legal costs

Other support costs
Governance costs

Total 2022 -
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Total

8,488,021

Educational * Total
operations funds funds
2023 2023 - 2022
£ £ £
11,058,521 11,958,521 11,183,701
656,253 656,253 636,902
337,750 . 337,750 318,514,
322,825 322,825 386,787
241,549 241,549 211,120
250,927 250,927 215,788
348,824 - 348,824 270,279
114,116,649 . 14,116,649 13,223,091
13,223,001 13,223,001
Educational ' Total Total
operations funds funds °
2023 2023 2022
£ £ £
. 37,000 37,000 146,000
2,103,847 2,103,847 3,045,679
61,160 61,160 48,089
4,813,669 4,813,669 4,030,354
. 17,885 . 17,885 6,125
1,502,562 1,502,562 1,172,732
- 33,559 33,559 39,042
8,569,682 8,569,682 ‘ 8,488,021
8,488,021
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10. Net ihcqmel(expenditure)

‘Net ihcbme/(exbenditure) for the year includes:

~ Operating lease rentals '
Depreciation of tangible fixed aséets_
Fees paid to auditor for:

" - audit
- other services

11.  Staff
a. Staff costs:

- Staff costs during the year were as follows:

- Wages and salaries
Social security costs .
- Pension costs

Agency staff.costs
Staff restruqturing costs

Staff restructuriﬁg costs comprise:

‘Redundancy payments
Severance payments

b. Special staff sevérancé payments

£ .

2023 2022

£ £

115454 74,162
656,253 636,902
23,700 19,750

© 5,335 2,945,

AY

12023 2022

£

10,503,921 9,922,437
1,025,101 973,415
2,533,346 3,313,876
14,062,368 14,209,728
348,824 270,279

. 19,652 -
14,411,192 14,499,659
2023 2022
O £

. 9,652

. 10,000

. 19,652

' lncluded within staff restructurlng costs are contractual redundancy payments total £Nil (2022 £9 652)

and non contractual severance payments £Nil (2022:-£10,000).
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11.  Staff (continued) E

c. Staff numbers

The average number of persons employed by the Academy during the year was as follows: -

2023 2022 .

No. . No.
Teachers . ' - . ' , 169 144
Administration and support . ) ' 234 $ 220
Management - - 13 23

416 387

d. Higher paid staff

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pensuon costs) exceeded

£60,000 was:
2023 |, 2022
. : _ No. ~ No.
In the band £60,001 - £70,000 o . 6 6
In the band £70,001 - £80,000 - ' 6 3
In the band £80,001 - £90,000 ' ' 1 1
. In the band £100,001 - £110,000 1. 1
In the band £120,001 - £130,000 1 1

e. Key management personnel

«

The key management personnel of the Academy compnse the Trustees and the senior management
team as listed on page 1. The total amount of key management personnel benefits (including employer
pension contributions) received by key, management personnel for their services to the Academy was
£1,144,547 (2022 - £865 595) ‘
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12. Central services

The Academy has provided the following central services to its academies during the year:

. Management services

Human resources ’

Financial services

Legal services , ‘ - ‘ S o,
. Educational support services o : '

‘The Academy charges for these services on the followihg basis:

6.3% (2022: 5.9%) of General Annual Grant Income recelved within additional charges made where
appropriate. : .

The actual amounts charged during the year were as follows: .

2023 2022

: ‘ £ S

Homewood School & Sixth Form Centre _ A - 732,816 651,948

St Michael's Church of England Primary School , ' ' ‘43,308 40,056

" Tenterden Infant School - : ‘ : . 43,372 - 37,848

Tenterden Church of England Junlor School ' . 58,428 51,540
Rolvenden Primary School - . A 32,124 29,328.

Total - E o A - 910,048 810,720

13. = Trustees' remuneratlon and expenses

During the year, no Trustees received any remuneration or other benefit (2022 S'Reeves.received
remuneration of £30,000 - £35,000 and pension contributions of £5,000 to £10,000). -

-During the year ended 31 >August 2023, no Trustee expense_s have been incurred (2022 - £NIL).

14, . Trustees' and Officers’ insurance

The. Academy has opted into. the Department for Education's risk protection arrangement (RPA), an
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects
.Trustees and officers from.claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on
academy business, and provides cover up to £10, 000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees and.
officers indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme membership.
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15. .Tangible fixed assets

_Cost or valuation
At 1 September 2022
Addition's

At 31 August 2023

" -Depreciation ,
At1 September 2022
Charge for the year

* At 31 August 2023

Net book value

At 31 August 2023

. At 31 August 2022

Tenterden Séhools Trust
(A company limited by guarantee)

Long-term . . .
Freehold ! hold - Imp to Plant and Computer
property " property property machinery equipmgn! Motor vehicles - Total
31,853,215 3,201 ,200' 913,320 35,816 55,879 110,000 36,229,430
15,920 : - 25,475 - 92,523 12,250 146,168
31,869,135 3,201,200 998,795 35,816 ' 148,402 122,250 36,375,598
Ty
487,167 ] 23,580 566,307 26,409 22,186 108,073 1,233,727
487,167 23,580 90,083 3,565 48,980 , . 2,878 656,253
,974’334 - 47,160 . 656,390 29,974 71,166 110,956 1,889,980
/30,89_4,801 ) 3,154,040 342,405 v 5,842 77,236 11,294 34,485,618 ‘
3,177,620 407,013 19,407 33,693 1,922

- 34,995,703 .

31,366,048
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*16. Debtors

Due within one year .
~ Trade debtors !
Other debtors
Prebaym'ents and accrued income

17. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Other loans

Trade creditors

Other taxation and social security A
Other creditors ' o
Accruals and deferred income

Deferred income at 1 September 2022 A
Resources deferred during the year
‘Amounts released from previous periods

{

12023 2022

£ £
148,092 69,102

. 536,396 - 438,095

3,709,661 2,989,598
4,394,149 3,496,795
2023 2022 -

£ £

65868 . - 73,148

967,750 844,425

253,275 246,188
276,534 . 248,547
259,775 366,384 -
1,823,202 1,778,692
2023 2022

£ £

58,287 66,554

66,728 58,287
(58,287) - .(66,554)

66,728

- 58,287

- At the balance sheet date the-Academy Trust was holgiing funds received in advance for Universal Infant

Free School Meals, school trips and other income.

Page 47



Tenterden Schools Trust
~ (A company limited by guaraﬁtee) '

Notes to the financial statements '
For the year ended 31 August 2023 . S

18. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2023 2022
| | | . E &
Other loans - - 119,905 184,249

During the year ended 31 August 2023, the Academy Trust held CIF loans of £123,290 and salix loans of
£62,483 as a result of its Condition Improvement Fund applications. The interest rates and repayment
terms of the Ioans are as follows:

- CIF Loan for Fire Safety Improvements (Homewood) £150,000, 2% interest, Matunty August 2024
Salix loan for Fire Safety Improvements (Homewood) £79,920, 0% interest, Maturity August 2029
Salix loan for Fire Safety Improvements (Rolvenden) £10,718, 0% interest, Maturity August 2029 .
Salix loan for Fire Safety Improvements (St Michael's) £11,229, 0% interest, Maturity August 2029
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_19.  Statement of funds

Balance at-1 ' ' . c " Gains/ . Balance at 31
September 2022 Income Expenditure Transfers .infout (Losses) August 2023 .
£ ’ £ ; £ £ - £ - £
Unrestricted ' A
funds
General funds 272,455 816,622 (44,(542)  (704,689) . - 340,346
Restricted ‘
general funds
General Annual o : : o v AU \ .
Grant (GAG) -, 14,673,491 (15,378,180) 704,689 ' - Coe
Pupil premium - 791,031  (791,031) - -
- Other DfE/ESFA - o : :
© grants : » - . 1,150,696 - (1,150,696) e - S .
Other ‘ ‘ ' ' : :
" government : . g S
~ grants - 1,140,814 (1,140,814) - . - .
.Other income . - 345,583 (345,583) - - -

" Pension reserve ~ (1,232,000) - (219,000) . 1,451,000 -

(1,232,000) 18,101,615 (19,025,304) 704,689 1,451,000 -

Restricted fixed

asset funds -
~ Restricted fixed - . ‘
asset fund - 34,995,703 . - (656,253) . 146,168 ) - 34,485,618
DfE/ESFA o ' A ‘ ' ‘
. capital grants ' 3,102,447 4,571,166 .(3,156,260) (146,168) . - 4,371,185
38,098,150 - 4,571,166  (3,812,513) 4 - ' - 38,856,803
Total Restricted ] o g » .
funds 36,866,150 22,672,781 (22,837,817) - 704,689 1,451,000 38,856,803
Total funds 37,138,605 23,489,403 (22,881,859) . - 1,451,000 39,1'97,149

The sbeciﬂc purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

Unrestricted funds- are ap‘pliedfo the general work of the Academy Trdgt to support activities inside and
outside the curriculum. . . ’

GAG représents funds to be used to cover the normal running costs of the Academy Trust. .

Pupil premlum fundlng is provided in order to be used to support d|sadvantaged pupils and to assist them
in decreasing the attainment gap between those pupils and thelr peers.
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19.

Statement of funds (continued)

UIFSM supports schools in delivering the Iegal requirement to offer free school meals to all receptron year
1 and year 2 pupils.

,COVID 19 catch- up premium is a grant for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 academic years to support children

and young people to catch up lost time after school closure, with allocations calculated on a per pupil
basis, using census data, |n Ilne with the general annual grant (GAG). :

Teachers pay and pension grants are to provrde support to schools in respect of the teachers' pay
awards. .

Other DfE/ESFA grants represents grants provrded for specific purposes, such as rates, relied and pe and _

.sports premium is funding to. make additional and sustainable |mprovements to the quality of the PE,

physical activity and sport schools provrde

Other government grants represent those grants provided for specific ourposes to provide additional *
support to the pupils where required. .

The Restricted Fixed Asset Fund represents the net book value of tangible fixed assets. Transfers within

_this section were made to ensure the analysis correctly reflected tangible fixed assets and capital grants

available to spend.

The DfE/ESFA capital grants fund is to provide the Academy Trust with its own capital money to address

improvements to burldrngs and other facilities.

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy was not subject to a Ii‘mjt on the

amount of GAG it could carry forward at 31 August 2023.
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19.

Statement of funds (continued)

Unrestricted
. funds’

General funds

Reétricted

‘Comparative information in 'respec‘:t of the preceding yeér is as follows:

"Balance at

general funds .

General Annual.
Grant (GAG)

- Pupil premium
. 'Other DfE/ESFA

grants

"Other

government
grants

' School voluntary

funds
Other income
Pension reserve

Restricted fixed
asset funds

‘Restricted fixed

asset fund

DfE/ESFA
capital grants

Total Restricted ~

" funds

Total funds

Balance at
1 September . Transfers Gains/ 31 August
2021 Income Expenditure infout . (Losses) 2022
S £ S £ B £
123,800 521,018 (1,816)  (370,547) - 272,455
- 13,694,297 (14,064,844) 370547 - .
- 686,863 . (686,863) ' - - -
- 745,078 (745,078) . - .
- 1310793 (1,310,793) - - -
“ .. 187,535 ‘4  (187,535) oo - .
- 260,105 (260,105) - - -
(9,206,000) L (1,306,000) - 9,280,000  (1,232,000).
(9,206,000) 16,884,671 (18,561,218) 370,547 . 9,280,000  (1,232,000)
35,608,173 _ - (636,902) 24,432 - 34995703
2,744,072 3,099,656  (2,716,849) (24,432) - 73,102,447
38,352,245 3,099,656  (3,353,751) - - 38,098,150
29,146,245 19,984,327 (21,914,969) :370,547 9,280,000 - 36,866,150
29,270,045 20,505,345 - .- 9,280,000 37,138,605

E——————————

Total funds analysis by: academy

Fund balances at 31 August 2023 were allocated as follows: .

(21,916,785)
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19. Statement of funds (continued)

Homewood School & Sixth Form Centre
Tenterden Infant School

Tenterden C of E Junior School
Rolvenden Primary.School

St Michael's C of E Junior School

John Mayne C of E School '
Tenterden Schools Trust

Total before fixed asset funds and pension reserve
Restricted fixed asset fund )
Pension reserve

Total
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2023 2022

£ £
160,672 174,406
38488 7,113
95,355 65,895
15,069 13,259
(3,621) 11,782
121,001 R

13,382~ -

340,346 . 272,455
38,856,803 - 38,098,150
- (1,232,000)

39,197,149 37,138,605
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19

20.

Statement of funds (continued)

- Total cost analysis By academy

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows;

Pége 53

Teaching
and
educational . Other Other costs : o
support support Educational excluding . Total Total
staff costs  staff costs supplies depreciation 2023 2022
£ : £ £ S £
Homewood
School & Sixth’ : : A
Form Centre 8,892,603 1,137,343 919,079 5,516,120 16,465,145 13,770,384
Tenterden Infant ’ .
School 658,996 48,813 41,020 378,704 1,127,533 1,656,147
Tenterden C of S ’
E Junior : S :
School 823,022 - 81673 - 68,415 407,311 1,380,421 1,648,508
Rolvenden . : L . ' ’ o
Primary School 462,866 55,487 34,005 114,463 666,821 834,733
St Michael's C of - : : :
E Junior . .
" School 683,904 53,467 48,958 302,037 1,088,366 1,218,218
Tenterden _ ' : » ..
Schools Trust 228,680 . 743,878 22,402 153,452 1,148,412 2,151,893
John Mayne ' - .
CofE School 209,837 - 20,186 19,172 .. 60,794 309,989 -
' Academy' 11,959,908 2,140,847 1,153,051 6,932,881 22,186,687 21,279,883
Analysis of net assets between funds ‘
Analysis of net assets between 'funds - current year
| 4 ' Restricted 4
Unrestricted Restricted fixed asset Total
funds funds funds funds .
2023 2023 2023 2023 -
. £ £ £
Tangible fixed assets - - 34,485,618 34,485,618
Current assets ' 340,346 1,943,107 4,371,185 6,654,638
Creditors due within one year - (1,823,202) - (1,823,202)
Creéditors due in more than one year - ' - (119,905) - (119,905)
Total - 340,346 - 38,856,803 39,197,149
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20.

- 21,

Analyéis of net assets between funds (continued)

Aﬁalysis of net assets between funds - prior year '

'Restricted ‘
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TUnrestrAicted ~ Restricted fixed asset Total
) funds funds funds funds
2022 2022 2022 2022
£ £ £ £
Tangible fixed assets - - - 34995703 34995703
Current assets . - - 272,455 1,705,544 3,359,844 5,337,843
Creditors due within one year o - . (1,705,544) (73,148)  (1,778,692)
Creditors due in more than one year B - . (184,249) (184,249)
Prévisipns for liabilities and chafges s : - '. (1,232,000) - (1,232,000)
Total | 272,455 (1,232,000) 38,098,150 | 37,138,605 -
Reco:jéiliation of nét income/(expenditure) to nét cash flow from operating.activities
2023 2022
£ £
Net mcome/(expenduture) for the year (as per Statement of f nanmal :
activities) . 607,544 (1,411,440)°
Adjustments for: ‘
Depreciation | A 656,253 636,902
Capital grants from DfE and pther capital income . (4,571,166) (3,314,655)
Interest receivable - (207) (218)
Defined benefit pensmn scheme cost less contributions payable 182,000 1,160,000
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost 37,000 146,000
Decrease in stocks o - 39,467
Increase in debtors - (897,353)  (446,920)
Increase in creditors 51,790 345,841
Net cash used in operating activities o (3,934,139)

(2,845,023)
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22. Cash flows from financing activities

Cash inflows from new borrowing
Repayments of borrowing -

. Netcash (used ih)/prdvided by financing éctivities .

23. Cash flows from i_nv'ésting activities

. Dividends, intereét and rents from investments - .
Purchase of tangible fixed assets . '
. Capital grants from DfE Group

Net cash provided by investing activities

24, Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

-

Cash in hand and at bank

Total cash and cash equivalents

25. Analysis of changes in net debt

At 1
September

2022

£
" Cash at bank and in hand . . " 1,841,048

Debt due within 1 year o (73,148)

~ Debt due after 1 year v - S © (184,249)

2023 202

£ £
- .. 5531

© (71,625) ;
(71,625) 5,531
2023 2022
ok £
207 218

(146,168)  (24,432)
4,571,166 3,314,655

4,425,205 3,290,441 .

2023 . 12022
£ £

2,260,489 1,841,048

2,260,489 1,841,048

. “At 31

. Cash flows August 2023
Y ' £
419,441 - 2,260,489
7,280 ©  (65,868)

64,344 (119,905

- 1,583,651
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2.

27.

Capltal comm|tments

12023 - 2022

: . S oo . £ ' £
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 4 A :

Completion of capital funded projects : ' ' 4,870,982 3,102,645

Penswn commitments B

The Academys employees belong to two principal pension. schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, WhICh is managed by Kent County Council. Both are multi- employer defined
benefit schemes. .

The latest actuarial valuatlon of the TPS related to the penod ended 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS 31
March 2022.

' Contnbutlons amounting to £268,970 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2023 (2022 £244 512)

and are included within creditors.

Teachers' Pension Scheme

‘The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contrlbutory, defined benefit scheme, governed by

the Teachers' Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for full-time teachers in
academies. All teachers have the optlon to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which. both the member and employer makes contrlbutlons as a
percentage of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pen3|on
benefts are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. .

. Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS
in.accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014
published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future
contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs,
design of benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at .
31 March 2016. The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2018.

. The key elements of the valuatlon and subsequent consultatlon are:

. employer contrlbutlon rates set at 23 68% of penswnable pay (mcludlng a 0.08% administration
levy)
. total scheme Ilabllltles (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefi its) for

service to the effective date of £218,100_million and notional assets (estimated future contrlbutlons
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million, giving a
notional past service deficit of £22,000 million

. the SCAPE rate, -set by HMT, is used to determine the notuonal investment return. The current
SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI, assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices
and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnmgs growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The
assumed nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%. '

The next valuation result is-due to be'implemented from 1 April 2024.
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27.

Pension commitments (continued) '
The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to ,-‘.‘1,546,940‘(2'022 - £1,451,344). -

A copy of the valuation.report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensioris website
(https://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2019/04/teachers-pensions-valuation-report.aspx).

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS-is an unfunded muilti-employer pension scheme. The
Academy has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme
The Academy has set out above the information available on the scheme.

'Lo,cal Government Pension Scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-

administered funds. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2023 was £987,000 (2022 -
£898,000), of which employer's contributions totalled £777,000 (2022 - £701,000) and employees'
contributions totalled £210,000 (2022 - £197,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 22.5

. per cent for employers and 5.5 - 12.5 per cent for employees. .

As described in note the LGPS obligation relates to the employees of the Academy, who were the

“employees transferred as part of the conversion from the maintained school and new employees who

were eligible to, and did, .join the Scheme in the year. The obligation in respect of employees who
transferred on conversion represents their cumulatlve service at both the predecessor school and the
Academy at the balance sheet date. .

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the
event of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the

Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013.

Principal actuarial assumptions

2023 2022

. , _ 4 - % %

Rate of increase in salaries 4 : 3.90 3.95
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/mﬂatlon ] ' 2.90 295
Discount rate for scheme liabilities ' ' o ) 5.30 4.25
Inflation assumption (CPI)' N _ : 290 295

The current mortallty assumptions include suff cient aIIowance for future |mprovements in mortallty rates
The assumed life expectatrons on retrrement age 65 are:

!

2023 2022

Years A Years
Retiring today . o '
Males - ; | A 207 210
Females o ‘ o 232 235
Retiring in 20 years ’ )
Males ' A ' 220 223

Females o ' . ' : 24.6 24.9
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27.  Pension commitments (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

- 2023 2022
. . , £000 £000
Discountrate +0.1% - - | 4 (222,000)  (285,000)
Discountrate -0.1% - S : - 228,000 291,000
Mortality assumption - 1 year increase ' : .- 366,000 388,000
Mortality assumption - 1 year decrease . ~ {355,000) (377,000)
CPlrate +0.1% .~ S : 224,000 274,000
CPirate -0.1% - ' , : ~ (218,000) ~ (268,000).
Share of scheme assets
' The Academy's slhéré_ of the assets in the scheme was: -
. ' : - At 31 “At 31 August
August 2023 2022
A . o £ £
Equites . . ' ‘ - _ . o 8,140,000 7,886,000
Gilts S : . ‘ . 75,000 70,000
Corporate bonds -7 o ' A . 1,771,000 1,592,000
Property . . : , 1,293,000 1,415,000
Cash and other liquid assets o o _ . 135,000 204,000
Absolute return fund : ] ' . 919,000 866,000
Infrastructure : o Co o 486,000 -
Total market value of assets . 4 12,818,000 . 12,033,000
“ The actual return on scheme assets was £445,000 (2022 - £(151,616)).
The amounts recognised in the Statement of ﬂhahcial»aétivities are as foll‘oyvs:
2023 2022
, ‘ £ £
Currerit service cost S o ' (928,000)  (1,855,000)
Interestincome . . o _ ' - 530,000 194,000
- Interest cost : o : . (567,000) 340,000
Administrative expenses : ' . (31,000) (6.000_).' _
Total amount recognised in the Statement of financial activities . (996,000) (1,327,000) .
! ~

Page 58



Tenterden Schools Trust '
(A company limited by guarantee)

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 August 2023

wis Pension commitments (continued)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2023 2022

, , . £ £
At1September S . 13,265,000 - 20,519,000
" Conversion of academy trusts - _ ' © 297,000 -
Current service cost - . . o 928,000 1,855,000
Interest cost , - 567,000 - 340,000
Employée contributions o - . © 210,000 197,000
Actuarial gain/loss : : . (2,308,000) (9,623,000)
Benefits paid S o o - (319,000)  (23,000)
At 31 August : : A . 12,640,000 13,265,000
Changes in the fair value of the Academy's share of scheme assets were as follows: . -
2023 2022
: _ o , £ £
. At1 September : c 12,033,000 11,313,000
Conversion of academy trusts . ‘ ' . ' 273,000 -
Interest income E S 530,000 194,000
Employer contributions - - | o - 777,000 701,000
Employee contributions , ' ' S 210,000 197,000
Benefits paid , A : : © 1 (319,000) (23,000)
Actuarial gain/loss ' : , (678,000) (343,000) :
Administrative expenses _ o _ (7,000) - (6,000)
Changes in effect of asset ceiling B . : (179,000) - -
At 31 August . ‘ . v 112,640,000 12,033,000

As set out in note 3, the plan surplus as at 31 August 2023 was £179,000 (2022 liability £1,232,000). The
_trustees, are not expecting to recover the surplus through reduced contributions and they do not

anticipate receiving any refunds from the plan and therefore the net surplus recognised within the
-financial statements has been restricted to £NIL.

28.  Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the
event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a
‘'member, such amount as may be required, not exceedlng £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted
before he/she ceases to be a member. :
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29.

30.

31.

32,

Related party transactions

Owing to the nature of the Academy and the composition of the Board of Trustees being drawn from local -
public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in.which the
trustees have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations are conducted in accordance with
the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including notlfylng the ESFA of all transactions made
on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where required, and with the Academy's financial
regulatlons and normal procurement procedures relatung to connected and related party transactions.

No related party transactions.

Post balance shéet events _
On the 7th September 2023 the trust dispose& of a piece of land on Appledore Road

Sale Price . £1,000,000 plus VAT

Repayable contribution to KCC . ' £200,000
Net proceeds £800,000

Approval was granted by the ESFA to dispose of the land becaese ii could not be used as a pléying field
due to'its distance from the school. The proceeds of the sale will be used for mvestlng in playing field
facilities and Sixth Form building refurblshment

Agency arrangements

‘The academy- trust distributes 16-19 Bursary funds-to students as‘an agent for the ESFA. In thé year

ended 31 August 2023 the trust received £65 160 (2022: £47 ,618) and this was aII dlsbursed from the
fund

. Transfer on conversion

A J-oh.n Mayne CofE Primary School

Value
reported by - -
transferring Transfer in
' trust recognised

£ . £
Pensions . : . A _ '
Pensions - pension scheme assets ' 273,000 . 273,000
Pensions - pension scheme liabilities o ' o o ‘ (297,000) - (297,000)
" Net liabilities '

(24,000)  (24,000)
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32. Transfer on con\rersion (continued)

‘At the time of conversion John Mayne CofE Primary School was reportmg a deficit and therefore was
transferred to'the trust at breakeven position.

. The buudlngs are retained by the Canterbury Diocesan Board of Finance and the Trust has a I|cence to
occupy these bundlngs wnth a mlnlmum notice penod on a rolling basis.

All other fixed assets were immaterial to the trust.

~
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